40 ggadin

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,100 FIFTH DISTRICT CASE NO. 87-1340

STANDARD GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

-vs-

BRENDA L. QUANSTROM,

Respondent.

Jul 25 1738

CLEW Modern

PETITIONER'S, STANDARD GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY, INITIAL MERITS BRIEF ON ITS PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

LORA A. DUNLAP Fisher, Rushmer, Werrenrath, Keiner, Wack & Dickson, P.A. Post Office Box 712 Orlando, Florida 32802 (305) 843-2111 Attorneys for Petitioner, STANDARD GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The present controversy reaches this court pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), and Article V, Section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution. This court accepted jurisdiction on June 27, 1988, based upon a conflict between the Fifth District Court of Appeal's February 11, 1988, decision in Quanstrom v.

Standard Guaranty Insurance Company, 519 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), 1 and Travelers Indemnity Company v.

Sotolongo, 513 So.2d 1384 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).2

The underlying controversy arises out of a relatively simple insurance coverage dispute. BRENDA L. QUANSTROM (hereafter QUANSTROM) initiated litigation against STANDARD GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY (hereafter STANDARD GUARANTY)

<sup>1</sup>A copy of the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in Quanstrom v. standard Guaranty Insurance Company, 519 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), is attached hereto as allowed by Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.220 and designated A. 1-3.

<sup>2</sup>A copy of Travelers Indemnity <u>Company</u> v. Sotolonso, 513 So.2d 1384 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), is attached hereto pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.220 and designated A. 4-5. subsequent to submission of the Jurisdictional Briefs in the present controversy, the Third District Court of Appeal decided <u>National Foundation Life Insurance Company v. Wellington</u>, So.2d (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), 13 F.L.W. 1402, which is also in express and direct conflict with the Fifth District's decision in <u>Quanstrom</u>. A copy is attached hereto and designated A. 6-7.

seeking recovery of \$2,066.04.3 in personal injury protection (PIP) benefits. (R. 19-20)<sup>4</sup> Quanstrom initiated the action to recover PIP benefits under a STANDARD GUARANTY policy issued to Terry Nelson, the owner of the vehicle in which QUANSTROM was allegedly injured. (R. 19-20) STANDARD GUARANTY denied coverage on the basis QUANSTROM owned a vehicle on which Florida law required she maintain her own PIP coverage, thus she was not entitled to recover under the Nelson policy. (R. 22)

The only disputed issue, exclusive of attorney's fees, in the underlying controversy centered on the definition of the term "inoperable" under Florida's No-Fault Statute, Section 627.736(4)(d)(4)(a). (R. 22). Both parties moved for summary judgment on the inoperability question (R. 105-133, 167-168) and the trial court entered Final Judgment on behalf of STANDARD GUARANTY. (R. 170) The Fifth District Court of Appeal subsequently reversed in Quanstrom v. Standard Guaranty Insurance Company, 504 So.2d 1295 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), and remanded for entry of judgment and an award of attorney's fees under Florida Statute Section 627.428.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The dollar amount **in** dispute was <u>never</u> controverted. (R. 208–209)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>All references will be to the Record On Appeal as prepared for the Fifth District Court of Appeal by the Clerk for Volusia County Circuit Court and forwarded to this Court per its June 27, 1988, order and will be designated (R. page number).

Upon remand, the trial court, after taking evidence on the attorney's fee issue, refused application of an enhancement or multiplier figure to the \$8,100.00 loadstar figure stipulated to by counsel.<sup>5</sup> (R. 211) The trial court determined an \$8,100.00 award for a \$2,066.04 recovery in an action which consisted of filing a complaint, a motion for summary judgment, the taking of one deposition, and the filing one appeal, was adequate, and expressly rejected QUANSTROM's request for a tripling of the \$8,100.00 figure for recovery of an attorney's fee in excess of \$24,000.00.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed, determining application of the multiplier was mandatory stating:

If the result is unsatisfactory to those having the responsibility and authority in the matter, then they should change the formula by reassessing the factors to be considered and the weight to be given each. We who are bound to follow the authority of others should not omit factors or juggle the weight given a factor, beyond the parameters given the exercise of discretion, in order to reach a preferred result.

Quanstrom v. Standard Guaranty Insurance Company, 504 So.2d 1135, 1137 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

The Fifth District noted its decision expressly and directly conflicted with the Third District Court of Appeal's decision in Travelers Indemnity Company v. Sotolongo,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Both counsel for Standard **Guaranty and Quanstrom** agreed as to the reasonable number of hours and the reasonable hourly rate. The only dispute was **over** application of an **enhancement** figure.

513 So.2d 1384 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). STANDARD GUARANTY subsequently filed its Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.120 on March 11, 1988, and the court's June 27, 1988, Order accepting jurisdiction properly brings the matter before this court.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The "loadstar analysis" adopted by this court in Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985), (hereafter Rowe) was designed to develop a consistent and reasonable approach to the award of attorney's fees. Neither Rowe, nor its federal progenitors were designed to subsidize the legal profession or penalize unsuccessful parties in litigation.

The "loadstar analysis" begins with a determination of hours reasonably spent on the particular litigation which is then multiplied by a reasonable hourly rate. The result is what has come to be known as the ''loadstar figure", reflecting the attorney's skill, the complexity of the litigation, the risks involved, and those factors determined relevant, both by the Florida Bar and by the courts, in determining appropriate and reasonable fees.

The loadstar figure is presumptively adequate to compensate counsel for their time and effort in a particular action, and only in the most extraordinary circumstances will the second phase of <a href="Rowe">Rowe</a>, the enhancement or

reduction of the loadstar figure, come into play. Moreover, if enhancement should be considered, Rowe determined
the total fee award could never exceed the fee agreed to by
the claimant and his counsel, there was a "Cap" to assure
some control of the attorney's fee awards which prompted
Rowe. Thus if the loadstar figure exceeds a prior contractual agreement, it should be reduced, and if there are
extraordinary factors, the loadstar figure could be enhanced, but only up to the amount originally agreed to
between a client and his attorney, the "Cap".

It is essential to recognize a successful result or high quality representation does not justify an enhancement factor. As professionals, and as members of the Bar, attorneys have a duty to zealously represent their clients and to provide a high quality legal service. Thus successful representation is not the type of extraordinary circumstance necessary to justify enhancement of the loadstar figure. Moreover, the existence of a risk of non-payment or a contingency factor does not justify an enhancement factor since it penalizes losing parties with the strongest and most reasonable defenses. It creates a penalty for those who are the least culpable and encourages marginal and highly questionable litigation without any concomitant public policy benefit. Establishing the extraordinary circumstances justifying an enhancement factor is a heavy burden, and rests squarely with the requesting parties. Its ultimate determination, however, rests within the sound discretion of the trial court. There has been no showing in the present controversy of any extraordinary circumstance justifying the tripling of the \$8,100.00 award. In fact, there are serious questions as to whether the typical "contingency fee contract" even exists in the present controversy, and most assuredly, there has been no showing of an abuse of discretion by the trial judge.

This court, in <u>Rowe</u>, specifically created a "checks and balances" system. It adopted the federal loadstar approach and delineated an enhancement factor in certain limited cases. Moreover, it put a "Cap" on the enhanced dollar figure such that the total attorney's fee award could never exceed the dollar figure of the original contingency agreement between the plaintiff and his counsel. Where there is no contingency fee agreement with its "Cap", the prerequisites for enhancement do not exist.

Finally, if this court should determine the contract in question was a contingency fee agreement such that the multiplier set forth in <u>Rowe</u> is potentially applicable, the trial court's award should not be disturbed as it constitutes an adequate recovery under the facts of this case. Florida courts have consistently held an award of attorney's fees must bear a reasonable relationship to the results obtained. A \$24,000.00 recovery of attorney's fees bears no justifiable or reasonable relationship to the issues litigated in this controversy, nor the amount recovered.

Therefore, the Final Judgment (R. 211) overturned by the Fifth District Court of Appeal should be reinstated.

#### ARGUMENT

I. NEITHER FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND V. ROWE, 472 So.2d 1145 (FLA. 1985), NOR ITS FEDERAL PROGENITORS, MANDATE APPLICATION OF AN ENHANCEMENT FACTOR TO STATUTORY AWARDS OF ATTORNEY'S FEES.

At the outset, it is informative to consider the history and background of Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe. 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985). This court adopted the federal loadstar analysis in an effort to establish some consistency and moderation in attorney's fee awards. As later decisions would reveal, Rowe's goal was to inject some objectivity into the awards and create a cap for unreasonable and outrageous attorney's fee awards.

Stabinski, Funt & De Oliveria, P.A., v. Alvarez, 490 So.2d 159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966).

The federal loadstar approach, as this court recognized in Rowe, is a two-fold process. First, the court must determine the number of hours reasonably expended in the defense or prosecution of a particular action. Once the reasonable number of hours is established that figure is multiplied by a reasonable hourly rate. The sum of those two numbers yields "the loadstar", which is a relatively objective basis for attorney's fee awards. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145

(Fla. 1985); Aperm of Florida, Inc. v. Trans-Coastal Maintenance Co., 505 So.2d 459 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

Determining the reasonable number of hours and the reasonable hourly rate encompasses virtually all of the individual factors expressly set out in The Florida Bar Code of Professional Responsibility Rule 4-1.5. More specifically, Rule 4-1.5 lists eight factors as guides in determining the reasonableness of an attorney's fee, including:

- The time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty in the questions involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly;
- The likelihood, if apparent to the client, that the acceptance of the particular employment will preclude other employment by the lawyer;
- 3. The fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services:
- 4. The amount involved and the results obtained;
- 5. The time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances;
- 6. The nature and length of the professional relationship with the client;
- 7. The experience, reputation, and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the services; and
- 8. Whether the fee is fixed or contingent.

Rowe recognized those factors help determine both the reasonable hourly rate and the reasonable number of hours necessary for a particular proceeding. In fact, they subsume virtually every factor suggested as a basis for

the multiplier analysis including the "contingency" nature of the representation (number 8), which is the second phase of the loadstar calculation. See also: Aperm of Forida, Inc. v. Trans-Coastal Maintenance Companv.

505 So.2d 459 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); Winterbotham v.

Winterbotham, 500 So.2d 723 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); FIGA v.

R.V.M.P. Corp., F. Supp. (S.D. Fla. 1988),

2 F.L.W. Fed. D119.

Once the initial loadstar figure is reached, it may be increased or decreased in unusual or unique circumstances. This court specifically held in <a href="Rowe">Rowe</a>:

Once the court arrives at the loadstar figure, it may add or subtract from the fee based upon a "contingency risk" factor and the "results obtained" • (emphasis added) Id. at 1151.

The court did not give extensive guidance on when to add or subtract from the loadstar figure, or if such calculations were mandatory or permissive, thus subsequent decisions from the Florida District Courts of Appeal have been inconsistent.6 Consequently, the first question under consideration is the discretionary nature of the enhancement factor.

application of the enhancement figure.

<sup>6</sup>The very basis of this appeal, the conflict between <u>Quanstrom v.</u> standard <u>Guaranty Insurance Company</u>, 519 So.2d 1135 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), and <u>Travelers Indemnity Company v. Sotolongo</u>, 513 So.2d 1384 (Fla. **3d DCA** 1987), reflects **the** divergent attitudes toward

A. Application Of An Enhancement Or Reduction Factor Is Discretionary With The Trial Judge.

In the underlying appeal the Fifth District seems to have been persuaded by QUANSTROM's argument that this court's statement an attorney working under a contingent fee contract "must charge" a client more, transforms the holding in Rowe into a quaranteed enhancement every time there is a chance of non-payment. Such a conclusion, however, is inconsistent with Rowels express language providing the trial court "may add or subtract" from the loadstar figure. Moreover, it is patently clear from Rowe this court intended the multiplier or enhancement figure to apply only under very limited circumstances where there is an extraordinary justification or a particular type contingent fee contract between the attorney and his The usual situation, as recognized in Rowe arises client. in a personal injury context. It is essential to recognize the present controversy is not a personal injury case, but rather, a first party claim for insurance coverage under a contract.7

QUANSTROM argues the multiplier should be applicable in every case where there is the possibility of no recovery. Such a position is untenable under Florida law. The

<sup>7</sup>At no time was there ever a controversy regarding Quanstrom's personal injuries, or the amount of damages she sustained. In fact, those figures were stipulated to. (R. 208-209).

Florida courts have consistently held the enhancement factor is not applicable in all situations, even though there is a chance of zero recovery. Stabinski, Funt, and De Oliveria, P.A. v. Alvarez, 490 So.2d 159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), recognized there are many instances and many different kinds of attorney fee disputes, but the loadstar analysis does not extend to all of them. Perhaps the most striking example involves workers compensation disputes. Florida Statute Chapter 440 specifically provides for an award of an attorney's fees in workers compensation proceedings much as Section 627.428 of the Insurance Code provides for the award of attorney's fee in insurance disputes. The Florida courts have, however, consistently refused to apply the multiplier and the loadstar principle in workers compensation cases. Rivers v. SCA Services of Florida, Inc., 488 So.2d 873 (Fla.1st DCA 1986).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal has expressly refused to apply the multiplier in eminent domain proceedings, even though once again there is a statutory entitlement to attorney's fees precisely as there is in the present controversy. Division of Administration, State of Florida, Department of Transportation v. Ruslan, Inc., 497 So.2d 1348 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). In fact, exclusive of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the present controversy, no Florida court has ever applied the multiplier in a first party insurance context such as that presently before this court. The Third District on two separate

occasions has however, expressly refused to find the enhancement factor mandatory in first party insurance controversies. National Foundation Life Insurance Company v. Wellinston, So.2d (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), 13

F.L.W. 1402; Travelers Indemnity Company v. Sotolongo, 513

So.2d 1384 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). The Third District has relied on this court's express language in Rowe stating:

Once the court arrives at the loadstar figure, it may add or subtract from the fee based upon a "contingency risk" factor and the "results obtained". Id. at 1151.

"may" as a permissive as opposed to a mandatory verb, the Third District's conclusion is reasonable and better reasoned than the <u>Quanstrom</u> court's. <u>McDonald v. Rowland</u>, 65 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1953); <u>Harper v. State</u>, 217 So.2d 591 (Fla. 4th DCA 1968).

As do many states, Florida courts often look for interpretation to the federal courts where either similar rules, procedures, or issues have been litigated.

Stabinski, Funt & De Oliveria v. Alvarez, 490 So.2d 159

(Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Orlando Sports Stadium, Inc. v.

Sentinel Star Company, 316 So.2d 607 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975).

Since the Florida loadstar analysis is directly derived from the original federal loadstar analysis, a review of the federal courts' interpretation of the appropriateness of enhancement or subtraction factors is helpful. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla.

1985); <u>FIGA v. R.V.M.P. Corp.</u>, \_\_\_\_\_ F.Supp.\_\_\_ (S.D. Fla. 1988), 2 F.L.W. Fed. D119.

The federal courts have long been clear enhancement is the exception rather than the rule in calculating attorney's fees pursuant to the loadstar analysis. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal in Marion v. Barrier, 694 F.2d 229 (11th Cir. 1982), held the trial court did not abuse its discretion in failing to enhance an attorney's fee award even in a contingency fee contract arrangement. The court held the loadstar approach with its multiplier:

adjust a fee upward or downward in every instance where one or another of the factors is found to be present; rather, it suggests a "balancing process'' in which the trial judge remains responsible for the discretionary functions of assessing the weight to be given each factor and the appropriate adjustments in the fee. Id. at 231.

The Ninth Circuit reached the identical conclusion in Hall v. Bolger. 768 F.2d 1148 (9th Cir. 1985), when it held a district court's award of attorney's fees is generally subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. The court went on to note this standard applies not only to the basic fee (the loadstar figure) but also to the application of multipliers. The bottom line is, as the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeal noted in Hart v. Walker, 720 F.2d 1436 (5th Cir. 1983), the trial court is not required to enhance an award simply in light of a contingent fee contract or any other factor.

Enhancement is only appropriate in exceptional circumstances. The United States Supreme Court in refining the loadstar analysis, decided three major cases in the last several years which clarify and reaffirm enhancement of the loadstar analysis is the exception rather than the rule and only available in extraordinary circumstances, irrespective of the contingency nature of the recovery. Pennsylvania v. Delaware Valley Citizens Counsel For Clean Air, U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 107 S.Ct. 3078 (1987); Pennsylvania v. Delaware Valley Citizens Counsel For Clean Air, 478 U.S. 546, (1986); (Pennsylvania v. Delaware Valley, II & I, respectively); and Blum v. Stenson, 465 U.S. 886 (1984).

1. Neither Exceptional Results Nor The Existence Of A Risk Of Non-Payment Justify Application Of A Multiplier Except In The Most Extraordinary Circumstances.

The United States Supreme Court acknowledged the starting point for any determination of an attorney's fee award is the basic loadstar analysis, the reasonable number of hours expended in the action times the reasonable hourly rate. The court concluded the loadstar analysis incorporates the twelve (12) factors identified in Johnson v. Georgia Highway Express, 488 F.2d 714 (5th

Cir. 1974)<sup>8</sup>. More importantly, the court recognized the novelty and complexity of the issues is reflected in the number of billable hours recorded by counsel, and virtually never justifies an upward adjustment of the loadstar figure. Furthermore, the court acknowledged the special skills and experience of counsel is reflected in the reasonableness of the hourly rates proposed, thus neither complexity, novelty, nor exceptional handling justifies an increase in the basic fee award. Blum v. Stenson, 465
U.S. 886, 900 (1984). Justice Powell, speaking for the Court in Blum specifically addressed the question of whether the "riskiness" of being paid could ever justify an enhancement of the loadstar figure. In footnote 17, Powell pointed out the Court was not addressing that issue, but implied they had serious questions regarding it --

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