Woot

29  
le

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STANDARD GUARANTY INSURANCE  
COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

BRENDA L. QUANSTROM,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 72,100

FILED  
AUG 20 1983  
M

---

RESPONDENT, BRENDA L. QUANSTROM'S, ANSWER BRIEF

---

STEPHAN W. CARTER  
Dalton and Provencher, P.A.  
17 East Pine Street  
Post Office Box 606  
Orlando, Florida 32802  
(407) 425-0712

Attorney for Respondent,  
BRENDA L. QUANSTROM

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

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND v. ROWE, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985), OR ITS FEDERAL PROGENITORS, MANDATES APPLICATION OF AN ENHANCEMENT FACTOR TO STATUTORY AWARDS OF ATTORNEY'S FEES<sup>3</sup>

The question before this Court is whether a trial court determining a court-awarded attorney's fee must apply a contingent risk factor from 1.5 to 3.0 when the attorney to be compensated stood a risk of not being paid because the attorney's fee contract was contingent. For the following reasons, this Court should hold that while the amount of the risk factor to be applied in any given case is a matter of discretion for the trial court, the trial court must, nonetheless, apply some risk factor between 1.5 and 3.0 when an attorney has accepted the case on a completely contingent basis, whereby, regardless of the method of calculation, the attorney takes the risk of receiving no fee if the claim fails.

Naturally, the starting point for any attorney's fee question is Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985). Rowe set forth the guidelines trial courts are compelled to follow when calculating court-awarded

---

<sup>3</sup>This statement of the issue has been recast from the argumentative form used by Standard Guaranty to a more neutral form. While it is not a statement of the issue as Quanstrom would draft it, Quanstrom has resisted the temptation to completely recast the issue for the convenience of the Court.

fees. Rowe also, however, speaks to the mandatory nature of the risk factor.

Ironically, the issue presented to the Rowe court was not the question of how fees are to be calculated. The question before the court was the constitutionality of section 768.56, Florida Statutes (1981), which directed trial courts to award a reasonable attorney's fee to the prevailing party in medical malpractice actions. Having found the statute was not unconstitutional, the court took the time and effort to develop a formula for trial courts to use in calculating the amount of such fees. The unanimous court was concerned with the inconsistency and lack of objectivity with which trial courts were awarding fees.

Recently, partially because of the substantial increase in the number of matters in which courts have been directed to by statute to set attorney fees, great concern has been focused on a perceived lack of objectivity and uniformity in court-determined reasonable attorney fees.

Id. at 1149.

The court drew from the federal lodestar system to develop its own method of calculating fees.<sup>4</sup> It decided that the trial court should first determine the number of hours reasonably expended on litigation. The court should then decide a reasonable hourly rate by considering the criteria set forth in

---

<sup>4</sup>The court did not adopt the federal lodestar system. It adopted the general approach of the federal system, but developed a system with many significant differences. This will be discussed later.

Disciplinary Rule 2-106(b) of The Florida Bar Code of Professional Responsibility.<sup>5</sup>

1. The time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty of the questions involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly;
2. The likelihood, if apparent to the client, that the acceptance of the particular employment will preclude other employment by the lawyer;
3. The fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services;
4. The amount involved and the results obtained;
5. The time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances;
6. The nature and length of the professional relationship with the client;
7. The experience, reputation, and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the services; and
8. Whether the fee is fixed or contingent.

In deciding the hourly rate, however, the trial court was to exclude from its calculation the time and labor required, the results obtained, and the contingent nature of the fee. Time and labor required were already taken into account in the court's initial determination of the hours reasonably spent. **As** for any reduction for the "results obtained," whereby the court should

---

<sup>5</sup>This has now been changed to Rule Regulating The Florida Bar 4-1.5, but the criteria have not changed.

reduce a fee in situations in which a plaintiff is not completely successful. This factor is to be considered separately by the trial court after a determination of the reasonable hourly fee.

Finally, the court must separately consider whether the fee is fixed or contingent. Noting that attorneys who take cases on a contingency fee must charge more than those who are guaranteed payment of the fee, the court said that the trial court must separately consider that factor and enhance any lodestar fee by anywhere from 1.5 to 3.0, depending on the likelihood of success at the time the attorney took the case. The question before this Court, of course, is whether the Rowe court intended that the trial court always apply some risk factor or whether it intended that this be left to the whim of the trial judge.

An examination of the language used in the Rowe opinion is helpful, although not conclusive. On the one hand the court used the word "**may**" when it said:

Once the court arrives at the lodestar figure, it may add or subtract from the fee based upon a "contingency risk" factor and the "results obtained."

~~id.~~ at 1151 (emphasis supplied).

On the other hand the court used mandatory language as well:

Because the attorney working under a contingent fee contract receives no compensation when his client does not prevail, he must charge a client more than the attorney who is guaranteed remuneration for his services. When the prevailing party's counsel is employed on a contingent fee basis, the trial court must consider a contingency risk factor when awarding a statutorily-directed reasonable attorney fee.

\* \* \*

Based on our review of the decisions of other jurisdictions and commentaries on the subject, we conclude that in contingent fee cases, the lodestar figure calculated by the court is entitled to enhancement by an appropriate contingency risk multiplier in the range from 1.5 to 3.0.

Id. (emphasis supplied).

The formula developed by the court reflects the court's effort to devise a formula which approximates the way fees are determined in the marketplace. Theoretically, when each of the factors set forth in DR-106(b) is considered, it will have an upward or downward effect on the amount of a reasonable fee. Each is a significant part of the formula, and the trial court needs to consider all and not just some of them. A failure to do so artificially alters the analysis and destroys the validity of the formula.

The court recognized the obvious fact that if a person is guaranteed payment, all other things being equal, his price is not as high as one who is not guaranteed payment. On the other hand, one whose collection of payment is not guaranteed must charge more for his services based on the probability of collection. Refusing to recognize this fact makes the calculation flawed and thwarts the attempt to approximate market conditions.

In the Rowe opinion, the court introduced its formula by citing five United States Court of Appeals cases and three other sources which the court deemed **authoritative**.<sup>6</sup> Id. at 1150. From one of the authorities, Berger, Court Awarded Attorneys' Fees: What is "Reasonable"?, 126 Pa.L.Rev. 281 (1977), comes some enlightening thoughts concerning the purpose for and justification of the risk factor:

Unless an attorney has some agreement with the client guaranteeing compensation regardless of the outcome, the attorney will receive no fee in the event that suit does not succeed in some manner. In these cases counsel bear the risk that they will not be compensated at all for their time and effort. The experience of the marketplace indicates that lawyers generally will not provide legal representation on a contingent basis unless they receive a premium for taking that risk.

\* \* \*

[T]he risk of nonrecovery must be accounted for if these cases are to attract lawyers.

\* \* \*

Where the court concludes that the chance of success was about even at the outset, an increase in the hourly rate in the range of 100% appears appropriate. Finally, if the case appears unlikely to succeed when initiated, an increase in the basic hourly rate of up to 200% may be justified to compen-

---

<sup>6</sup>Those authorities were Copper Liquor, Inc. v. Adolph Coors Co., 624 F.2d 575 (5th Cir. 1980); Detroit v. Grinnell Corp., 550 F.2d 1093 (2d Cir. 1977); Lindy Bros. Builders v. American Radiator & Standard Sanitary Corp., 540 F.2d 102 (3d Cir. 1976); Detroit v. Grinnell Corp., 495 F.2d 448 (2d Cir. 1974); Lindy Bros. Builders v. American Radiator & Standard Sanitary Corp., 487 F.2d 161 (3d Cir. 1973); Berger, Court Awarded Attorneys' Fees: What is "Reasonable"?, 126 Pa.L.Rev. 281 (1977); M. Derfner, Court Awarded Attorney Fees, 1.02[1], (1984); Leubsdorf, The Contingency Factor in Attorney Fee Awards, 90 Yale L.J. 473 (1981).

sate the attorney for the substantial risk undertaken.

Id. at 324-26 (footnotes omitted).

The concept of multiplying the lodestar by 1.5 to 3.0 is adapted from Berger.

If the court were to conclude that there was no realistic chance of losing at the inception of the case, the risk of non-recovery would be zero, and the basis hourly rate should not be adjusted. If the court were to conclude that there was an even chance of success at the outset, it would in effect be saying there was a fifty percent risk of nonrecovery. A lawyer would have to take two of these cases on a contingent basis to receive one fee. Accordingly, if risk were to be fully compensated, the lawyer would be entitled to twice his basic hourly fee.

Id. at 326. The Berger article was obviously influential in the Rowe court's decision.

In addition to the Rowe language, itself, and the recognition that Rowe attempts to reflect economic pricing principles, one should also look once more to the reason the Rowe court decided to formulate a method of attorney-fee calculation in the first place. The motivating factor was the court's desire for uniformity and objectivity. To allow a trial court discretion as to whether to apply a multiplier runs counter to a desire for uniformity and objectivity. Rowe's purpose was to restrict discretion, not confer it. A court so concerned about uniformity and objectivity would not have conferred discretion to the trial

judge on such an important factor as to whether to apply a risk factor without having specifically said so. In fact, the word discretion is never used in the context of attorney-fee computation in the entire Rowe opinion. Moreover, the supreme court gave no guidelines to trial courts within which to use any discretion. There is no discussion as to under what circumstances in which a contingency fee agreement exists the risk factor should or should not be applied. For the Rowe court, with its concerns, to have granted discretion on this question to the trial court without having provided any guidelines by which the trial court should exercise that discretion is difficult to accept. The only logical conclusion, therefore, is that the court did not intend the trial court to have the discretion as to whether to apply a risk multiplier.

The formula set forth in Rowe resolves many questions trial courts and attorneys have had in the past about how fees should be calculated. It is a simple and objective formula. It takes away a great deal of the uncertainty experienced by practicing lawyers and, as such, it enhances settlements of attorney's fee matters. Instead of having opposing lawyers rolling the dice on fee questions, they now may more certainly evaluate the merits of their claims because they know the formula which the judge will

apply. This kind of situation promotes settlements of these issues.<sup>7</sup>

Three district courts of appeal have considered the mandatory versus discretionary question which is before this Court. The Fifth District Court of Appeal, of course, has ruled with Quanstrom on this question while the Third District Court of Appeal has ruled to the contrary in Travelers Indem. Co. v. Sotolongo, 513 So.2d 1384 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), and National Found. Life Ins. Co. v. Wellington, 13 F.L.W. 1402 (Fla. 3d DCA June 14, 1988). The only other district court which has passed on this question is the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Aperm of Fla., Inc. v. Trans-coastal Maintenance Co., 505 So.2d 459 (Fla. 4th DCA), review denied, 515 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1987). Aperm, as is this case, was a first-party claim for insurance benefits. After the plaintiff prevailed, the trial court refused to apply a contingency risk factor. The district court reversed and remanded the case for application of a multiplier ranging from 1.5 to 3.0. In that case the argument was made that the trial court had discretion as to whether to apply a risk factor. The district court rejected that argument. Id. at 463.

Standard Guaranty argues that:

---

<sup>7</sup>The formula led to a partial settlement in the present case. The attorneys in the present case knew the court would have to apply the Rowe formula and went far toward a settlement of the attorney's fee issue by agreeing on a lodestar figure.

It is patently clear<sup>8</sup> from Rowe this Court intended the multiplier or enhancement figure to apply only under very limited circumstances where there is an extraordinary justification or a particular type contingent fee contract between the attorney and his client.

Standard Guaranty's Initial Brief at 10 (footnote added).

Standard Guaranty does not present any support for that position, however. While Rowe was a personal injury case, Standard Guaranty has not shown how the contract in Rowe meets the "extraordinary" test Standard Guaranty says should be required before a risk factor is applied.

Standard Guaranty also suggests, without authority, that a risk factor should not apply to a first-party insurance claim and says that no district courts of appeal, except for the Fifth District in Quanstrom, has done so. On the contrary, the Fourth District Court of Appeal did that very thing in Aperm when it held the trial court erred in refusing to apply a risk multiplier in that first-party insurance claim.

Standard Guaranty cites three district court cases to argue that the district courts have restricted the use of Rowe to certain situations. Quanstrom is in general agreement with that proposition, but none of the situations in which the district courts have held Rowe does not apply is present in this case.

---

<sup>8</sup>**This** writer was taught in law school that whenever someone uses phrases such as "patently clear. . ." and "it is obvious that. . ." one had best look particularly carefully at the reasoning accompanying such phrases. Sometimes these phrases are used to cover up that which is, in fact, not very clear or obvious. Quanstrom suggests that this lesson is particularly appropriate here.

For example, in Stabinski, Funt, and De Oliveria, P.A. v. Alvarez, 490 So.2d 159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), the court held that Rowe is designed to calculate fees to be paid by a third person and is not applicable to determine fees an attorney is trying to collect from his own client. Both Rivers v. S.C.A. Servs. of Fla., Inc., 488 So.2d 873 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), and Division of Administration, State Dept. of Transp. v. Ruslan, Inc., 497 So.2d 1348 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), show that Rowe is inapplicable in workers' compensation and eminent domain cases, respectively. This is because the legislature has statutorily set forth specific criteria to be used in those cases. None of these situations exists in the present case.

Standard Guaranty goes on to refer to federal cases for the principle that the trial court has discretion to refuse to apply a risk factor. First, a word must be said about the usefulness of federal authority on this subject.

Rowe did not adopt the "federal lodestar method." Instead, it found that the "federal lodestar approach. . . provide[d] a suitable foundation for an objective structure." Rowe, 472 So.2d at 1150. From the authorities cited by the court,<sup>9</sup> it is apparent that the court, while adopting the general approach used by the federal courts, in no way intended to adopt that system as it existed as the law of Florida. For example, under the federal system the contingent nature of the fee agreement was considered

---

<sup>9</sup>These are the authorities listed in n.6, supra.

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